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The False Claims Act: A Primer 

 
The False Claims Act (FCA), 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 - 3733 was enacted in 1863 by a Congress 
concerned that suppliers of goods to the Union Army during the Civil War were defrauding the 
Army.  The FCA provided that any person who knowingly submitted false claims to the 
government was liable for double the government’s damages plus a penalty of $2,000 for each 
false claim.  Since then, the FCA has been amended several times.  In 1986, there were 
significant changes to the FCA, including increasing damages from double damages to treble 
damages and raising the penalties from $2,000 to a range of $5,000 to $10,000.  The FCA has 
been amended three times since 1986.  Over the life of the statute it has been interpreted on 
hundreds of occasions by federal courts (which sometimes issue conflicting interpretations of the 
statute).  The purpose of this primer is not to explain how the FCA evolved over the decades or 
to discuss judicial interpretations of its provisions.  Rather, in this primer we simply explain the 
most significant elements of the FCA to give one new to the statute an introductory 
understanding of the FCA and how it works.  The complete text of the False Claims Act is 
provided at the end of this primer. 
 
Liability 
 
The statute begins, in § 3729(a), by explaining the conduct that creates FCA liability.  In very 
general terms, §§ 3729(a)(1)(A) and (B) set forth FCA liability for any person who knowingly 
submits a false claim to the government or causes another to submit a false claim to the 
government or knowingly makes a false record or statement to get a false claim paid by the 
government.  Section 3729(a)(1)(G) is known as the reverse false claims section; it provides 
liability where one acts improperly – not to get money from the government, but to avoid having 
to pay money to the government.  Section 3729(a)(1)(C) creates liability for those who conspire 
to violate the FCA. Sections 3729(a)(1)(D), (E), and (F) are rarely invoked. 
 
Damages and penalties 
 
After listing the seven types of conduct that result in FCA liability, the statute provides that one 
who is liable must pay a civil penalty of between $5,000 and $10,000 for each false claim (those 
amounts are adjusted from time to time; the current amounts are $5,500 to $11,000) and treble 
the amount of the government’s damages.  Where a person who has violated the FCA reports the 
violation to the government under certain conditions, the FCA provides that the person shall be 
liable for not less than double damages. 
 
The knowledge requirement 
 
A person does not violate the False Claims Act by submitting a false claim to the government; to 
violate the FCA a person must have submitted, or caused the submission of, the false claim (or 
made a false statement or record) with knowledge of the falsity.  In § 3729(b)(1), knowledge of 
false information is defined as being (1) actual knowledge, (2) deliberate ignorance of the truth 
or falsity of the information, or (3) reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information. 
 



Definition of a claim 
The FCA also defines what a claim is and says that it is a demand for money or property made 
directly to the Federal Government or to a contractor, grantee, or other recipient if the money is 
to spent on the government’s behalf and if the Federal Government provides any of the money 
demanded or if the Federal Government will reimburse the contractor or grantee. 
 
Tax claims exclusion 
 
In § 3729(d), the FCA states that the statute does not apply to tax claims under the Internal 
Revenue Code. 
 
The qui tam provisions 
 
The FCA allows private persons to file suit for violations of the FCA on behalf of the 
government.  A suit filed by an individual on behalf of the government is known as a “qui tam” 
action, and the person bringing the action is referred to as a “relator.”  
 
            a. Filing a qui tam complaint 
 
The qui tam provisions begin at § 3730(b) of the FCA; § 3730(b)(1) states that a person may file 
a qui tam action.  Section 3730(b)(2) provides that a qui tam complaint must be filed with the 
court under seal.  The complaint and a written disclosure of all the relevant information known to 
the relator must be served on the U.S. Attorney for the judicial district where the qui tam was 
filed and on the Attorney General of the United States. 
 
            b. Government investigation 
 
The qui tam complaint is initially sealed for 60 days.  The government is required to investigate 
the allegations in the complaint; if the government cannot complete its investigation in 60 days, 
it can seek extensions of the seal period while it continues its investigation.  The government 
must then notify the court that it is proceeding with the action (generally referred to as 
“intervening” in the action) or declining to take over the action, in which case the relator can 
proceed with the action. 
 
            c. Rights of the parties in a qui tam action 
 
If the government intervenes in the qui tam action it has the primary responsibility for 
prosecuting the action. § 3730(c)(1).  It can dismiss the action, even over the objection of the 
relator, so long as the court gives the relator an opportunity for a hearing (§ 3730(c)(2)(A)) and it 
can settle the action even if the relator objects so long as the relator is given a hearing and the 
court determines that the settlement is fair. § 3730(c)(2)(B).  If a relator seeks to settle or dismiss 
a qui tam action, it must obtain the consent of the government. § 3730(b)(1).  When the case is 
proceeding, the government (§ 3730(c)(2)(C)) and the defendant (§ 3730(c)(2)(D)) can ask the 
court to limit the relator’s participation in the litigation. 
 
 



            d. Award to the relator 
 
If the government intervenes in the qui tam action, the relator is entitled to receive between 15 
and 25 percent of the amount recovered by the government through the qui tam action.  If the 
government declines to intervene in the action, the relator’s share is increased to 25 to 30 
percent.  Under certain circumstances, the relator’s share may be reduced to no more than ten 
percent.  If the relator planned and initiated the fraud, the court may reduce the award without 
limitation.  The relator’s share is paid to the relator by the government out of the payment 
received by the government from the defendant.  If a qui tam action is successful, the relator also 
is entitled to  legal fees and other expenses of the action by the defendant. All of these provisions 
are in § 3730(d) of the FCA.  The FCA also provides that if the government chooses to obtain a 
recovery from the defendant in certain types of proceedings other than the relator’s FCA suit, 
this is known as an alternate remedy and the relator is entitled to the same share of the recovery 
as if the recovery was obtained through the relator’s FCA suit. §3730(c)(5).  
 
            e. Statutory bars to qui tam actions 
 
The FCA provides several circumstances in which a relator cannot file or pursue a qui tam 
action: 
 
                        1. The relator was convicted of criminal conduct arising from his or her role in the 
FCA violation. § 3730(d)(3). 
 
                        2. Another qui tam concerning the same conduct already has been filed (this is 
known as the “first to file bar”). §3730(b)(5). 
 
                        3. The government already is a party to a civil or administrative money 
proceeding concerning the same conduct. §3730(e)(3). 
 
                        4. The qui tam action is based upon information that has been disclosed to the 
public through any of several means: criminal, civil, or administrative hearings in which the 
government is a party, government hearings, audits, reports, or investigations, or through the 
news media (this is known as the “public disclosure bar.”) §3730(e)(4)(A).  There is an 
exception to the public disclosure bar where the relator was the original source of the 
information. 
 
We repeat that this primer does not discuss every section of the False Claims Act and is not 
intended to provide legal advice or take formal positions. It is intended only to provide a general 
introduction to the False Claims Act to those new to the area. 
 
Below is the complete text of the False Claims Act: 
 
 
 
 
 



§ 3729. False claims  
 

(a) LIABILITY FOR CERTAIN ACTS.—  
 

(1)       IN GENERAL.—Subject to paragraph (2), any person who— 
 

(A)      knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or 
fraudulent claim for payment or approval; 

 
(B)      knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a 

false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent; 
 
(C)      conspires to commit a violation of subparagraph (A), (B), 

(D), (E), (F), or (G); 
 
(D)      has possession, custody, or control of property or money 

used, or to be used, by the Government and knowingly 
delivers, or causes to be delivered, less than all of that 
money or property; 

 
(E)      is authorized to make or deliver a document certifying 

receipt of property used, or to be used, by the Government 
and, intending to defraud the Government, makes or 
delivers the receipt without completely knowing that the 
information on the receipt is true; 

 
(F)       knowingly buys, or receives as a pledge of an obligation or 

debt, public property from an officer or employee of the 
Government, or a member of the Armed Forces, who 
lawfully may not sell or pledge property; or 

 
(G)      knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a 

false record or statement material to an obligation to pay or 
transmit money or property to the Government, or 
knowingly conceals or knowingly and improperly avoids or 
decreases an obligation to pay or transmit money or 
property to the Government, 

 
is liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not 
less than $5,000 and not more than $10,000, as adjusted by the 
Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990 (28 
U.S.C. 2461 note; Public Law 104-410), plus 3 times the amount 
of damages which the Government sustains because of the act of 
that person. 
 



(2)       REDUCED DAMAGES.—If the court finds that— 
 

(A)      the person committing the violation of this subsection 
furnished officials of the United States responsible for 
investigating false claims violations with all information 
known to such person about the violation within 30 days 
after the date on which the defendant first obtained the 
information; 

 
(B)      such person fully cooperated with any Government 

investigation of such violation; and 
 
(C)      at the time such person furnished the United States with the 

information about the violation, no criminal prosecution, 
civil action, or administrative action had commenced under 
this title with respect to such violation, and the person did 
not have actual knowledge of the existence of an 
investigation into such violation, 

 
the court may assess not less than 2 times the amount of damages 
which the Government sustains because of the act of that person.  

(3)       COSTS OF CIVIL ACTIONS.—A person violating this subsection shall 
also be liable to the United States Government for the costs of a 
civil action brought to recover any such penalty or damages. 

 
(b)       DEFINITIONS.—For purposes of this section— 
 

(1)       the terms “knowing” and “knowingly”— 
 

(A)      mean that a person, with respect to information— 
 

(i)        has actual knowledge of the information; 
 
(ii)       acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of 

the information; or 
 
(iii)      acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of 

the information,; and  
 

(B)      require no proof of specific intent to defraud; 
 

 (2)        the term “claim”— 
 



(A) means any request or demand, whether under a contract or 
otherwise, for money or property and whether or not the United 
States has title to the money or property, that— 
 

(i)        is presented to an officer, employee, or agent of the 
United States; or 

 
(ii)       is made to a contractor, grantee, or other recipient, 

if the money or property is to be spent or used on 
the Government’s behalf or to advance a 
Government program or interest, and if the United 
States Government — 

 
(I) provides or has provided any portion of the 

money or property requested or demanded; 
or  
 

(II)      will reimburse such contractor, grantee, or 
other recipient for any portion of the money 
or property which is requested or demanded; 
and 

 
(B)      does not include requests or demands for money or property 

that the Government has paid to an individual as 
compensation for Federal employment or as an income 
subsidy with no restrictions on that individual’s use of the 
money or property; 

 
(3)       the term “obligation” means an established duty, whether or not 

fixed, arising from an express or implied contractual, grantor-
grantee, or licensor-licensee relationship, from a fee-based or 
similar relationship, from statute or regulation, or from the 
retention of any overpayment; and 

 
(4)       the term “material” means having a natural tendency to influence, 

or be capable of influencing, the payment or receipt of money or 
property. 

 
(c)       EXEMPTION FROM DISCLOSURE.—Any information furnished pursuant to  

subsection (a)(2) shall be exempt from disclosure under section 552 of title 5. 
 

(d)       EXCLUSION.—This section does not apply to claims, records, or statements made 
under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.  

 
 



§ 3730. Civil actions for false claims 
 

(a) RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.—The Attorney General diligently 
shall investigate a violation under section 3729. If the Attorney General finds that 
a person has violated or is violating section 3729, the Attorney General may bring 
a civil action under this section against the person. 
 

(b) ACTIONS BY PRIVATE PERSONS.— 
 

(1)       A person may bring a civil action for a violation of section 3729 
for the person and for the United States Government. The action 
shall be brought in the name of the Government. The action may 
be dismissed only if the court and the Attorney General give 
written consent to the dismissal and their reasons for consenting. 

 
(2)       A copy of the complaint and written disclosure of substantially all 

material evidence and information the person possesses shall be 
served on the Government pursuant to Rule 4(d)(4) of the Federal 
Rules of Civil Procedure. The complaint shall be filed in camera, 
shall remain under seal for at least 60 days, and shall not be served 
on the defendant until the court so orders. The Government may 
elect to intervene and proceed with the action within 60 days after 
it receives both the complaint and the material evidence and 
information. 

 
(3)       The Government may, for good cause shown, move the court for 

extensions of the time during which the complaint remains under 
seal under paragraph (2). Any such motions may be supported by 
affidavits or other submissions in camera. The defendant shall not 
be required to respond to any complaint filed under this section 
until 20 days after the complaint is unsealed and served upon the 
defendant pursuant to Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure. 

 
(4)       Before the expiration of the 60-day period or any extensions 

obtained under paragraph (3), the Government shall— 
 

(A)      proceed with the action, in which case the action shall be 
conducted by the Government; or 

 
(B)      notify the court that it declines to take over the action, in 

which case the person bringing the action shall have the 
right to conduct the action. 

 



(5)       When a person brings an action under this subsection, no person 
other than the Government may intervene or bring a related action 
based on the facts underlying the pending action. 

 
(c)       RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES TO QUI TAM ACTIONS.— 
 

(1)       If the Government proceeds with the action, it shall have the 
primary responsibility for prosecuting the action, and shall not be 
bound by an act of the person bringing the action. Such person 
shall have the right to continue as a party to the action, subject to 
the limitations set forth in paragraph (2). 

(2)  (A)      The Government may dismiss the action notwithstanding  
the objections of the person initiating the action if the 
person has been notified by the Government of the filing of 
the motion and the court has provided the person with an 
opportunity for a hearing on the motion. 
 

(B)      The Government may settle the action with the defendant 
notwithstanding the objections of the person initiating the 
action if the court determines, after a hearing, that the 
proposed settlement is fair, adequate, and reasonable under 
all the circumstances. Upon a showing of good cause, such 
hearing may be held in camera. 

 
(C)      Upon a showing by the Government that unrestricted 

participation during the course of the litigation by the 
person initiating the action would interfere with or unduly 
delay the Government’s prosecution of the case, or would 
be repetitious, irrelevant, or for purposes of harassment, the 
court may, in its discretion, impose limitations on the 
person’s participation, such as— 

 
(i)        limiting the number of witnesses the person may 

call; 
 
(ii)       limiting the length of the testimony of such 

witnesses; 
 
(iii)      limiting the person’s cross-examination of 

witnesses; or 
 
(iv)      otherwise limiting the participation by the person in 

the litigation. 
 



(D)      Upon a showing by the defendant that unrestricted 
participation during the course of the litigation by the 
person initiating the action would be for purposes of 
harassment or would cause the defendant undue burden or 
unnecessary expense, the court may limit the participation 
by the person in the litigation. 

 
(3)       If the Government elects not to proceed with the action, the person 

who initiated the action shall have the right to conduct the action. 
If the Government so requests, it shall be served with copies of all 
pleadings filed in the action and shall be supplied with copies of all 
deposition transcripts (at the Government’s expense). When a 
person proceeds with the action, the court, without limiting the 
status and rights of the person initiating the action, may 
nevertheless permit the Government to intervene at a later date 
upon a showing of good cause. 

 
(4)       Whether or not the Government proceeds with the action, upon a 

showing by the Government that certain actions of discovery by 
the person initiating the action would interfere with the 
Government’s investigation or prosecution of a criminal or civil 
matter arising out of the same facts, the court may stay such 
discovery for a period of not more than 60 days. Such a showing 
shall be conducted in camera. The court may extend the 60-day 
period upon a further showing in camera that the Government has 
pursued the criminal or civil investigation or proceedings with 
reasonable diligence and any proposed discovery in the civil action 
will interfere with the ongoing criminal or civil investigation or 
proceedings. 

 
(5)       Notwithstanding subsection (b), the Government may elect to 

pursue its claim through any alternate remedy available to the 
Government, including any administrative proceeding to determine 
a civil money penalty. If any such alternate remedy is pursued in 
another proceeding, the person initiating the action shall have the 
same rights in such proceeding as such person would have had if 
the action had continued under this section. Any finding of fact or 
conclusion of law made in such other proceeding that has become 
final shall be conclusive on all parties to an action under this 
section. For purposes of the preceding sentence, a finding or 
conclusion is final if it has been finally determined on appeal to the 
appropriate court of the United States, if all time for filing such an 
appeal with respect to the finding or conclusion has expired, or if 
the finding or conclusion is not subject to judicial review. 

 
 



(d)       AWARD TO QUI TAM PLAINTIFF.— 
 

(1)       If the Government proceeds with an action brought by a person 
under subsection (b), such person shall, subject to the second 
sentence of this paragraph, receive at least 15 percent but not more 
than 25 percent of the proceeds of the action or settlement of the 
claim, depending upon the extent to which the person substantially 
contributed to the prosecution of the action. Where the action is 
one which the court finds to be based primarily on disclosures of 
specific information (other than information provided by the 
person bringing the action) relating to allegations or transactions in 
a criminal, civil, or administrative hearing, in a congressional, 
administrative, or Government [General] Accounting Office report, 
hearing, audit, or investigation, or from the news media, the court 
may award such sums as it considers appropriate, but in no case 
more than 10 percent of the proceeds, taking into account the 
significance of the information and the role of the person bringing 
the action in advancing the case to litigation. Any payment to a 
person under the first or second sentence of this paragraph shall be 
made from the proceeds. Any such person shall also receive an 
amount for reasonable expenses which the court finds to have been 
necessarily incurred, plus reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. All 
such expenses, fees, and costs shall be awarded against the 
defendant. 

 
(2)       If the Government does not proceed with an action under this 

section, the person bringing the action or settling the claim shall 
receive an amount which the court decides is reasonable for 
collecting the civil penalty and damages. The amount shall be not 
less than 25 percent and not more than 30 percent of the proceeds 
of the action or settlement and shall be paid out of such proceeds. 
Such person shall also receive an amount for reasonable expenses 
which the court finds to have been necessarily incurred, plus 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. All such expenses, fees, and 
costs shall be awarded against the defendant. 

 
(3)       Whether or not the Government proceeds with the action, if the 

court finds that the action was brought by a person who planned 
and initiated the violation of section 3729 upon which the action 
was brought, then the court may, to the extent the court considers 
appropriate, reduce the share of the proceeds of the action which 
the person would otherwise receive under paragraph (1) or (2) of 
this subsection, taking into account the role of that person in 
advancing the case to litigation and any relevant circumstances 
pertaining to the violation. If the person bringing the action is 
convicted of criminal conduct arising from his or her role in the 



violation of section 3729, that person shall be dismissed from the 
civil action and shall not receive any share of the proceeds of the 
action. Such dismissal shall not prejudice the right of the United 
States to continue the action, represented by the Department of 
Justice. 

 
(4)       If the Government does not proceed with the action and the person 

bringing the action conducts the action, the court may award to the 
defendant its reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses if the 
defendant prevails in the action and the court finds that the claim 
of the person bringing the action was clearly frivolous, clearly 
vexatious, or brought primarily for purposes of harassment. 

 
(e)       CERTAIN ACTIONS BARRED.— 
 

(1)       No court shall have jurisdiction over an action brought by a former 
or present member of the armed forces under subsection (b) of this 
section against a member of the armed forces arising out of such 
person’s service in the armed forces. 

 
(2)       (A)      No court shall have jurisdiction over an action brought 

under subsection (b) against a Member of Congress, a 
member of the judiciary, or a senior executive branch 
official if the action is based on evidence or information 
known to the Government when the action was brought. 

 
(B)      For purposes of this paragraph, “senior executive branch 

official” means any officer or employee listed in 
paragraphs (1) through (8) of section 101(f) of the Ethics in 
Government Act of 1978 (5 U.S.C. App.). 

 
(3)       In no event may a person bring an action under subsection (b) 

which is based upon allegations or transactions which are the 
subject of a civil suit or an administrative civil money penalty 
proceeding in which the Government is already a party. 

 
            (4)       (A)      The court shall dismiss an action or claim under this 

section, unless opposed by the Government, if substantially 
the same allegations or transactions as alleged in the action 
or claim were publicly disclosed-- 

  
(i) in a Federal criminal, civil, or administrative hearing, in 
which the Government or its agent is a party;  
(ii) in a congressional, Government Accountability Office, 
or other Federal report, hearing, audit, or investigation: or 



(iii) from the news media, 
 

unless the action is brought by the Attorney General or the person 
bringing the action is an original source of the information. 

  
(B) For purposes of this paragraph, “original source” means an 

individual who either (i) prior to a public disclosure under 
subsection (e)(4)(a), has voluntarily disclosed to the 
Government the information on which allegations or 
transactions in a claim are based, or (2) who has knowledge 
that is independent of and materially adds to the publicly 
disclosed allegations or transactions, and who has 
voluntarily provided the information to the Government 
before filing an action under this section. 

  
(f)        GOVERNMENT NOT LIABLE FOR CERTAIN EXPENSES.—The Government is not 

liable for expenses which a person incurs in bringing an action under this section. 

(g)       FEES AND EXPENSES TO PREVAILING DEFENDANT.—In civil actions brought under 
this section by the United States, the provisions of section 2412(d) of title 28 shall 
apply. 

(h)       RELIEF FROM RETALIATORY ACTIONS.— 
 

(1)       IN GENERAL.—Any employee, contractor, or agent shall be entitled 
to all relief necessary to make that employee, contractor, or agent 
whole, if that employee, contractor, or agent is discharged, 
demoted, suspended, threatened, harassed, or in any other manner 
discriminated against in the terms and conditions of employment 
because of lawful acts done by the employee, contractor, or agent 
on behalf of the employee, contractor, or agent or associated others 
in furtherance of other efforts to stop 1 or more violations of this 
subchapter. 

 
(2)       RELIEF.—Relief under paragraph (1) shall include reinstatement 

with the same seniority status that employee, contractor, or agent 
would have had but for the discrimination, 2 times the amount of 
back pay, interest on the back pay, and compensation for any 
special damages sustained as a result of the discrimination, 
including litigation costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees. An action 
under this subsection may be brought in the appropriate district 
court of the United States for the relief provided in this subsection.  
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SUBJECT: 	 Individual Accountability for Corporate Wrongdoing 

Fighting corporate fraud and other misconduct is a top priority of the Department of 

Justice. Our nation ' s economy depends on effective enforcement of the civil and criminal laws 

that protect our financial system and, by extension, all our citizens. These are principles that the 

Department lives and breathes- as evidenced by the many attorneys, agents, and support staff 

who have worked tirelessly on corporate investigations, particularly in the aftermath of the 

financial crisis. 

One of the most effective ways to combat corporate misconduct is by seeking 

accountability from the individuals who perpetrated the wrongdoing. Such accountability is 
important for several reasons: it deters future illegal activity, it incentivizes changes in corporate 

behavior, it ensures that the proper parties are held responsible for their actions, and it promotes 

the public's confidence in our justice system. 



There are, however, many substantial challenges unique to pursuing individuals for 
corporate misdeeds. In large corporations, where responsibility can be diffuse and decisions are 

made at various levels, it can be difficult to determine if someone possessed the knowledge and 
criminal intent necessary to establish their guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. This is particularly 
true when determining the culpability of high-level executives, who may be insulated from the 
day-to-day activity in which the misconduct occurs. As a result, investigators often must 
reconstruct what happened based on a painstaking review of corporate documents, which can 
number in the millions, and which may be difficult to collect due to legal restrictions. 

These challenges make it all the more important that the Department fully leverage its 
resources to identify culpable individuals al all levels in corporate cases. To address these 
challenges, the Department convened a working group of senior attorneys from Department 
components and the United States Attorney community with significant experience in this area. 
The working group examined how the Department approaches corporate investigations, and 
identified areas in which it can amend its policies and practices in order to most effectively 

pursue the individuals responsible for corporate wrongs. This memo is a product of the working 
group's discussions. 

The measures described in this memo arc steps that should be taken in any investigation 
of corporate misconduct. Some of these measures are new, while others reflect best practices 
that are already employed by many federal prosecutors. Fundamentally, this memo is designed 
to ensure that all attorneys across the Department are consistent in our best efforts to hold to 
account the individuals responsible for illegal corporate conduct. 

The guidance in this memo will also apply to civil corporate matters. In addition to 
recovering assets, civil enforcement actions serve to redress misconduct and deter future 
wrongdoing. Thus, civil attorneys investigating corporate wrongdoing should maintain a focus 
on the responsible individuals, recognizing that holding them to account is an important part of 

protecting the public lisc in the long term. 

The guidance in this memo reflects six key steps to strengthen our pursuit of individual 
corporate wrongdoing, some of which reflect policy shifts and each of which is described in 
greater detail below: (l) in order to qualify for any cooperation credit, corporations must provide 
to the Department all relevant facts relating to the individuals responsible for the misconduct; 
(2) criminal and civil corporate investigations should focus on individuals from the inception of 
the investigation; (3) criminal and civil attorneys handling corporate investigations should be in 

routine communication with one another; ( 4) absent extraordinary circumstances or approved 
departmental policy, the Department will not release culpable individuals from civil or criminal 
liability when resolving a matter with a corporation; (5) Department attorneys should not resolve 
matters with a corporation without a clear plan to resolve related individual cases, and should 
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memorialize any declinations as to individuals in such cases; and (6) civil attorneys should 

consistently focus on individuals as well as the company and evaluate whether to bring suit 

against an individual based on considerations beyond that individual's ability to pay. 1 

I have directed that certain criminal and civil provisions in the United States Attorney's 

Manual, more specifically the Principles of Federal Prosecution of Business Organizations 

(USAM 9-28.000 el seq.) and the commercial litigation provisions in Title 4 (USAM 4-4.000 et 

seq.), be revised to reflect these changes. The guidance in this memo will apply to all future 

investigations of corporate wrongdoing. It will also apply to those matters pending as of the elate 

of this memo, to the extent it is practicable to do so. 

1. 	 To be eligible for anv cooperation credit, corporations must provide to the Department 
all relevant facts about the individuals involved in corporate misconduct. 

In order for a company to receive any consideration for cooperation under the Principles 

of Federal Prosecution of Business Organizations, the company must completely disclose to the 

Department all relevant facts about individual misconduct. Companies cannot pick and choose 

what facts to disclose. That is, to be eligible for any credit for cooperation, the company must 

identify all individuals involved in or responsible for the misconduct at issue, regardless of their 

position, status or seniority, and provide to the Department all facts relating to that misconduct. 

If a company seeking cooperation credit declines to learn of such facts or to provide the 

Department with complete factual information about individual wrongdoers, its cooperation will 

not be considered a mitigating factor pursuant to USAM 9-28.700 el seq. 2 Once a company 

meets the threshold requirement of providing all relevant facts with respect to individuals, it will 

be eligible for consideration for cooperation credit. The extent of that cooperation credit will 

depend on all the various factors that have traditionally applied in making this assessment (e.g., 

the timeliness of the cooperation, the diligence, thoroughness, and speed of the internal 

investigation, the proactive nature of the cooperation, etc.). 

This condition of cooperation applies equally to corporations seeking to cooperate in civil 

matters; a company under civil investigation must provide to the Dcpaiiment all relevant facts 

about individual misconduct in order to receive any consideration in the negotiation. For 

1 The measures laid out in this memo are intended solely to guide attorneys for the government in 
accordance with their statutory responsibilities and federal law. They are not intended to, do not, 
and may not be relied upon to create a right or benefit, substantive or procedural, enforceable at 
law by a party to litigation with the United States. 

2 Nor, if a company is prosecuted, will it support a cooperation-related reduction at sentencing. 
See U.S.S.G. USSG § 8C2.5(g), Application Note 13 ("A prime test of whether the organization 
has disclosed all pertinent information" necessary to receive a cooperation-related reduction in 
its offense level calculation "is whether the information is sufficient ... to identify ... the 
individual(s) responsible for the criminal conduct"). 
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example, the Department's position on "full cooperation" under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. 
§ 3729(a)(2), will be that, at a minimum, all relevant facts about responsible individuals must be 
provided. 

The requirement that companies cooperate completely as to individuals, within the 
bounds of the law and legal privileges, see USAM 9-28.700 to 9-28.760, docs not mean that 
Department attorneys should wait for the company to deliver the information about individual 
wrongdoers and then merely accept what companies provide. To the contrary, Department 
attorneys should be proactivcly investigating individLtals at every step of the process - before, 
during, and after any corporate cooperation. Department attorneys should vigorously review any 
information provided by companies and compare it to the results of their own investigation, in 
order to best ensure that the information provided is indeed complete and docs not seek to 
minimize the behavior or role of any individual or group of individuals. 

Department attorneys should strive to obtain from the company as much information as 
possible about responsible individuals before resolving the corporate case. But there may be 
instances where the company's continued cooperation with respect to individuals will be 
necessary post-resolution. In these circumstances, the plea or settlement agreement should 
include a provision that requires the company to provide information about all culpable 

individuals and that is explicit enough so that a failure to provide the information results iu 
specific consequences, such as stipulated penalties and/or a material breach. 

2. 	 Both criminal and civil corporate investigations should focus on individuals from the 
inception of the investigation. 

Both criminal and civil attorneys should focus on individual wrongdoing from the very 

beginning of any investigation of corporate misconduct. By focusing on building cases against 
individual wrongdoers from the inception of an investigation, we accomplish multiple goals. 
First, we maximize our ability to ferret out the full extent of corporate misconduct. Because a 

corporation only acts through individuals, investigating the conduct of individuals is the most 
efficient and effective way to determine the facts and extent of any corporate misconduct. 
Second, by focusing our investigation on individuals, we can increase the likelihood that 
individuals with knowledge of the corporate misconduct will cooperate with the investigation 
and provide information against individuals higher up the corporate hierarchy. Third, by 
focusing on individuals from the very beginning of an investigation, we maximize the chances 

that the final resolution of an investigation uncovering the misconduct will include civil or 
criminal charges against not just the corporation but against culpable individuals as well. 

3. 	 Criminal and civil attorneys handling corporate investigations should be in routine 

communication with one another. 

Early and regular communication between civil attorneys and criminal prosecutors 
handling corporate investigations can be crucial to our ability to effectively pursue individuals in 
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these matters. Consultation between the Department's civil and criminal attorneys, together with 
agency attorneys, permits consideration of the full range of the government's potential remedies 
(including incarceration, fines, penalties, damages, restitution to victims, asset seizure, civil and 

criminal forfeiture, and exclusion, suspension and debarment) and promotes the most thorough 
and appropriate resolution in every case. That is why the Department has long recognized the 
importance of parallel development of civil and criminal proceedings. See USAM 1-12.000. 

Criminal attorneys handling corporate investigations should notify civil attorneys as early 
as permissible of conduct that might give rise to potential individual civil liability, even if 
criminal liability continues to be sought. Further, ifthcre is a decision not to pursue a criminal 
action against an individual - due to questions of intent or burcleu of prool~ for example 
criminal attorneys should confer with their civil counterparts so that they may make an 
assessment under applicable civil statutes and consistent with this guidance. Likewise, if civil 
attorneys believe that an individual identified in the course of their corporate investigation 
should be subject to a criminal inquiry, that matter should promptly be referred to criminal 

prosecutors, regardless of the current status of the civil corporate investigation. 

Department attorneys should be alert for circumstances where concurrent criminal and 
civil investigations of individual misconduct should be pursued. Coordination in this regard 
should happen early, even if it is not certain that a civil or criminal disposition will be the end 
result for the individuals or the company. 

4. 	 Absent extraordinary circumstances, no corporate resolution will provide protection 

from criminal or civil liability for any individuals. 

There may be instances where the Department reaches a resolution with the company 
before resolving matters with responsible individuals. In these circumstances, Department 
attorneys should take care to preserve the ability to pursue these individuals. Because of the 
importance of holding responsible individuals to account, absent extraordinary circumstances or 
approved departmental policy such as the Antitrust Division's Corporate Leniency Policy, 
Department lawyers should not agree to a corporate resolution that includes an agreement to 
dismiss charges against, or provide immunity for, individual officers or employees. The same 
principle holds true in civil corporate matters; absent extraordinary circumstances, the United 
States should not release claims related to the liability of individuals based on corporate settlement 
releases. Any such release of criminal or civil liability clue to extraordinary circumstances must be 

personally approved in writing by the relevant Assistant Attorney General or United States 
Attorney. 

5 




5. 	 Corporate cases should uot be resolved without a clear plan to resolve related individual 

cases before the statute of limitations expires and declinations as to individuals in such 
cases must be memorialized. 

If the investigation of individual misconduct has not concluded by the time authorization 
is sought to resolve the case against the corporation, the prosecution or corporate authorization 
memorandum should include a discussion of the potentially liable individuals, a description of 
the current status of the investigation regarding their conduct and the investigative work that 
remains to be done, and an investigative plan to bring the matter to resolution prior to the end of 
any statute of limitations period. If a decision is made at the conclusion of the investigation not 
to bring civil claims or criminal charges against the individuals who committed the misconduct, 

the reasons for that determination must be memorialized and approved by the United States 
Attorney or Assistant Attorney General whose office handled the investigation, or their 
designees. 

Delays in the corporate investigation should not affect the Department's ability to pursue 
potentially culpable individuals. While every effort should be made to resolve a corporate matter 
within the statutorily allotted time, and tolling agreements should be the rare exception, in 
situations where it is anticipated that a tolling agreement is nevertheless unavoidable and 

necessary, all efforts should be made either to resolve the matter against culpable individuals 
before the limitations period expires or to preserve the ability to charge individuals by tolling the 
limitations period by agreement or court order. 

6. 	 Civil attorneys should consistently focus on individuals as well as the company and 

evaluate whether to bring suit against an individual based on considerations beyond 
that individual's ability to pay. 

The Department's civil enforcement efforts are designed not only to return government 
money to the public fisc, but also to hold the wrongdoers accountable and to deter future 
wrongdoing. These twin aims - of recovering as much money as possible, on the one hand, and 
of accountability for and deterrence of individual misconduct, on the other - are equally 
important. In certain circumstances, though, these dual goals can be in apparent tension with one 

another, for example, when it comes to the question of whether to pursue civil actions against 
individual corporate wrongdoers who may not have the necessary financial resources to pay a 
significant judgment. 

Pursuit of civil actions against culpable individuals should not be governed solely by 
those individuals' ability to pay. In other words, the fact that an individual may not have 
sufficient resources to satisfy a significant judgment should not control the decision on whether 

to bring suit. Rather, in deciding whether to file a civil action against an individual, Department 
attorneys should consider factors such as whether the person's misconduct was serious, whether 
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it is actionable, whether the admissible evidence will probably be sufficient to obtain and sustain 

a judgment, and whether pursuing the action reflects an important federal interest. Just as our 

prosecutors do when making charging decisions, civil attorneys should make individualized 

assessments in deciding whether to bring a case, taking into account numerous factors, such as 

the individual's misconduct and past history and the circumstances relating to the commission of 

the misconduct, the needs of the communities we serve, and federal resources and priorities. 

Although in the short term certain cases against individuals may not provide as robust a 

monetary return on the Department's investment, pursuing individual actions in civil corporate 

matters will result in significant long-term deterrence. Only by seeking to hold individuals 

accountable in view of all of the factors above can the Department ensure that it is doing 

everything in its power to minimize corporate fraud, and, over the course of time, minimize 
losses to the public fisc through fraud. 

Conclusion 

The Department makes these changes recognizing the challenges they may present. But 

we are making these changes because we believe they will maximize our ability to deter 

misconduct and to hold those who engage in it accountable. 

In the months ahead, the Department will be working with components to turn these 

policies into everyday practice. On September 16, 2015, for example, the Department will be 

hosting a training conference in Washington, D.C., on this subject, and I look forward to further 

addressing the topic with some of you then. 
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